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COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy to Conmt Fraud in Connection
with the Purchase and Sal e of Securities:
Samuel Waksal and Ti ppee No. 1)

The Grand Jury charges:

Backgr ound

1 At all tinmes relevant to this Indictnent, |InC one
Systens I ncorporated (“InClone”) was a corporation organi zed
under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place
of business in New York, New York. InClone was engaged in the
busi ness of devel opi ng bi ol ogi ¢ nmedi ci nes, including the
devel opnent of Erbitux, a biologic treatnent for irinotecan-
refractory col orectal cancer. |InClone publicly described
Erbitux as its | ead product candidate. At all tinmes relevant to
this Indictnent, InClone’ s conmon stock was |isted on the NASDAQ
Nati onal Market System an electronic securities market system
adm ni stered by the National Association of Securities Dealers,

under the synbol “IMCL.”
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2. Until on or about May 22, 2002, when he resigned,
SAMUJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, was president, chief executive
of ficer, and a director of InC one.

Sanuel Waksal's Fi nanci al Condition

3. As of on or about Decenber 26, 2001, SAMJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, had nore than approximately $75 mllion
i n indebtedness, over $50 mllion of which was “nmargi n debt”
secured by his shares of InClone stock. At that tinme, WAKSAL
had to pay nore than approxi mately $800, 000 each nonth to
service his indebtedness. As WAKSAL wel | knew, in the event
that the market price of InClone stock declined substantially,
WAKSAL’ s | nCl one stock that secured his “margin debt” would
likely be sold and, as a result, his net worth woul d decrease
dramati cal | y.

InClone’s Policies on Insider Trading

4. At all times relevant to this Indictnent, |InClone
di stributed nmenoranda advising its officers and enpl oyees,
i ncl udi ng SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, of their
responsi bilities under the federal securities laws. In or about
April 2001, as well as in preceding years, InClone distributed a
menor andum advi si ng enpl oyees of its insider trading policy,

whi ch stated in part:



U S. securities |aws give the Conpany, its
directors, officers and other enpl oyees,
anong others, the responsibility to ensure
that information about the Conpany is not
used unlawfully in the purchase and sal e of
securities.

Al'l directors, officers and ot her enpl oyees
shoul d pay close attention to the | aws

agai nst trading on “inside” information.
These | aws are based upon the belief that
all persons trading in a conpany’s
securities should have equal access to al
“material” information about the conpany.
For exanple, if an enpl oyee of a conpany
knows material, non-public information, that
enpl oyee is prohibited from buying or
selling stock in the conpany until the

i nformati on has been disclosed to the
public. That is because the enpl oyee knows
information that will very likely cause the
stock price to change, and it would be
unfair for the enployee to have an advant age
that the rest of the investing public does
not have. 1In fact, it is nore than unfair,
it is fraudulent and illegal.

The general rule is that it is a violation
of the federal securities |laws for any
person to buy or sell securities if he or
she is in possession of material inside

information. Information is “material” if
it could affect a person’s deci sion whet her
to buy, sell or hold the securities. It is

“inside” information if it has not been
publicly disclosed. Furthernore, it is
illegal for any person in possession of
material inside information to provide other
people with such information or to recommend
that they buy or sell the securities
(“tipping”). In that case, they nay both be
hel d |iabl e.



5. At all times relevant to this Indictnent, |InC one
al so established so-called “Bl ackout Periods” during which its
of ficers and enpl oyees were prohibited fromengaging in any
transactions in I nClone conmon stock. The Bl ackout Period was
descri bed to I nCl one personnel in a nmenorandum The nenorandum
further instructed directors and officers not to execute any
transaction in InClone stock during a Bl ackout Period w thout
first receiving authorization fromlInCone’'s Ofice of the
General Counsel .

The | nsider Tradi ng Schene

SAMJEL WAKSAL’ s Acquisition of Inside Infornmation

6. On or about October 31, 2001, InClone submtted
to the United States Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA’) a
Bi ol ogi cs Licensing Application (“BLA") for approval of Erbitux
(the “Erbitux BLA"). Pursuant to FDA regulations, within 60
days followi ng the subm ssion of a BLA, the FDA nust decide
whet her the BLA is administratively and scientifically conplete
to be accepted for FDA review. Only if a BLA is accepted for
filing does the FDA review the application to determ ne whet her
t he proposed treatnment will be approved.

7. Because | nCl one expected decisions fromthe FDA
on whet her the Erbitux BLA would be accepted for filing and

whet her the Erbitux BLA woul d be granted expedited review, on
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Decenber 21, 2001, InClone’s Ofice of the General Counse

di stributed an email to all InClone enployees placing into
effect a “conpany-w de bl ackout in trading in |InCl one stock.”
The emai|l stated that “the FDA is required to tell us by the end
of next week whether the filing of our BLA for Erbitux has been
accepted and whether the file will be granted expedited review”
and “[g]iven the inportance of this news, we believe enployees
should not trade in InClone stock until we receive definitive
information fromthe FDA and a press release is issued.”

8. On Decenber 25, 2001, InClone’s then executive
Vi ce- president and chief operating officer was inforned that a
source within the FDA had stated that it was al nost certain that
on Decenber 28, 2001, |InCl one would receive fromthe FDA a
“Refusal to File Letter,” by which the FDA woul d advi se | nCl one
that it had refused to accept the Erbitux BLA for filing.

9. On or about Decenber 26, 2001, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
def endant, |earned of the report that a source within the FDA
had stated that |InCl one was expected to receive a Refusal to
File Letter on Decenber 28, 2001. As of Decenber 26, 2001, this
i nformati on about the FDA's anticipated decision on the Erbitux
BLA was material non-public information. Moreover, as WAKSAL
wel | knew, any subsequent public announcenent that the FDA had

issued a “Refusal to File Letter” or had otherw se declined to



proceed with reviewi ng and approvi ng the Erbitux BLA would
i kely have an adverse inpact on the market price for InClone’s
st ock.

The Unl awf ul Tradi ng

10. As an officer and director of InCone, SAMJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, owed fiduciary and other duties to
| "Cl one and its shareholders to abstain from trading in InC one
common stock while in possession of rmterial non-public
informati on concerning InClone’ s Erbitux BLA SAMUEL WAKSAL
owed further duties to InClone and its shareholders to protect
the confidentiality of such material non-public information, and
to abstain from "tipping" such material non-public informtion
to others. In breach of those duties and for his own personal
benefit and the benefit of other persons with whom he had a
cl ose per sonal rel ati onship, SAMUEL WAKSAL di scl osed
confidential, mat eri al non-public information that he had
m sappropriated and stolen from |InClone about the FDA's
antici pated decision. WAKSAL disclosed this information, in
substance and in part, to, anong others known and unknown, a co-
conspirator not named as a defendant herein (“Tippee No. 1") and
recomrended that Tippee No. 1 sell InClone stock. Tippee No. 1,
in turn, sold InClone comobn stock while knowing that the

information was confidential, naterial and non-public and had



been disclosed to Tippee No. 1 in breach of SAMJEL WAKSAL’s
duties to InCone and InC one’s sharehol ders.

11. In or about the late evening of Decenber 26,
2001, SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, contacted Ti ppee No. 1 and
comruni cated to Tippee No. 1 that Tippee No. 1 should sell
| MCl one common stock. The follow ng day, Decenber 27, 2001, by
approximately 9:41 a.m (EST), Tippee No. 1 placed orders to
sell approximately 111,336 shares of |InClone commobn stock then
worth approxi mately $6,852,255. On or about Decenber 28, 2001
at approximately 9:07 a.m (EST), Tippee No. 1 placed an order
to sell an additional approximtely 25,000 shares of |nCl one
comon stock worth approxi mately $1, 429, 750.

Publ i ¢ Announcenent of the FDA Deci si on

12. On or about Decenber 28, 2001, at approxi mately
2:55 p.m (EST), the FDA transnitted to InClone via facsinmle a
letter stating that the FDA had refused to accept the Erbitux
BLA for filing. After the close of business on Decenber 28,
2001, InCl one issued a press rel ease announcing that the FDA had
refused to accept the Erbitux BLA for filing (the “RTF Press
Rel ease”).

13. On Decenber 28, 2001, prior to the issuance of
the RTF Press Rel ease, the closing price of InClone stock was

$55. 25. On Decenber 31, 2001, the first day that |nClone stock
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traded after the issuance of the RTF Press Rel ease, the price of
| nCl one stock closed at $46.46, representing a decline of
approxi mately 16%

14. By selling a total of 136,336 shares of |InC one
stock in the two days prior to InClone’ s public announcenent of
the FDA's refusal to accept for filing the Erbitux BLA, Tippee
No. 1 avoided | osses of approximately $1.9 million. On or about
January 18, 2002, Tippee No. 1 wire transferred approxi mately
$2, 850, 000 fromhis account at Roth Capital Partners, LLC, to an
account in the nane of SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, at UBS
Pai ne Webber .

The Conspiracy

15. From on or about Decenber 26, 2001, up to and
i ncluding on or about January 18, 2002, in the Southern District
of New York and el sewhere, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and
Ti ppee No. 1 unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly did conbine,
conspire, confederate and agree together and with each other to
commt offenses against the United States, to wit, to commt
securities fraud in violation of Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regul ati ons, Section 240.10b-5, and to commt wire fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(bj ects of the Conspiracy




Securities Fraud

16. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy
t hat SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and Ti ppee No. 1 unlawfully,
willfully and knowingly, directly and indirectly, by use of the
means and instrunmentalities of interstate commerce, the mails
and the facilities of national securities exchanges, did use and
enpl oy mani pul ati ve and deceptive devices and contrivances, in
violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section
240.10b-5, by (a) enploying devices, schenmes and artifices to
defraud; (b) making untrue statenents of material facts and
omtting to state material facts necessary in order to make the
statenents nmade, in the light of the circunstances under which
t hey were nade, not m sleading; and (c) engaging in acts,
practices and courses of busi ness which operated and woul d and
did operate as a fraud and deceit upon InClone and its
shar ehol ders, and other persons and entities, in connection with
t he purchase and sale of InCl one securities, in violation of
Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78)j(b) and 78ff, and
Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5.

Wre Fraud

17. It was further a part and an object of the
conspiracy that SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and Ti ppee No. 1,

havi ng devi sed and intending to devise a schenme and artifice to



defraud, and for obtaining noney and property by neans of false
and fraudul ent pretenses, representations and prom ses,
unlawfully, willfully and know ngly would and did transmt and
cause to be transmtted by nmeans of wire conmunication in
interstate and foreign comrerce, witings, signs, signals,

pi ctures and sounds for the purpose of executing such schene and
artifice, in violation of Section 1343 of Title 18, United

St at es Code.

Means and Met hods of the Conspiracy

18. Among the neans and nethods by which SAMJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, and Tippee No. 1 would and did carry out

the conspiracy were the foll ow ng:

a. SAMJEL WAKSAL m sappropriated and stole
material non-public information concerning the status of the
Erbitux BLA and the FDA's pending actions on that application
in violation of (i) the fiduciary and other duties of trust and
confidence that SAMJEL WAKSAL owed to InClone and its
sharehol ders; and (ii) ImCone’s witten policies regarding the
use and saf ekeeping of confidential and proprietary information.

b. For his own benefit and the benefit of
Ti ppee No. 1, wth whom SAMJEL WAKSAL had a close personal

rel ati onship, SAMUEL WAKSAL disclosed to Tippee No. 1 material
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non-public information that he had m sappropriated and stolen
from InClone and its shareholders with the understanding that
Tippee No. 1 would sell shares of InClone comon stock and
t hereby avoi d substantial | osses.

C. Ti ppee No. 1 sold shares of |nClone conmmon
stock on the basis of information and reconmendati ons provided

by SAMJEL WAKSAL, thereby avoiding substantial |osses.

Overt Acts
19. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect
the illegal objects thereof, the following overt acts, anong

others, were commtted in the Southern District of New York and
el sewher e:

a. In or about the l|ate evening of Decenber 26,
2001, SAMUJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, who was in New York, New
York, spoke by telephone with Tippee No. 1, who was in another
state.

b. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, Tippee No. 1
spoke by telephone wth a representative of Roth Capital
Partners, LLC, during which Tippee No. 1 placed an order to sell
50, 000 shares of |nClone commpn st ock.

C. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, Tippee No. 1

spoke by telephone wth a representative of McDonal d
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I nvestnents, Inc., during which Tippee No. 1 placed an order to
sell 50,000 shares of InClone conmobn stock

d. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, Tippee No. 1
spoke by telephone with a representative of Banc of Anmerica
Securities LLC, during which Tippee No. 1 placed an order to
sell 10,000 shares of InClone conmon stock.

e. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, Tippee No. 1
spoke by telephone wth a representative of Prudenti al
Securities Incorporated, Inc., during which Tippee No. 1 placed
an order to sell 1,336 shares of |nClone comobn stock.

f. On or about Decenber 28, 2001, Tippee No. 1
spoke by telephone with a representative of Roth Capita
Partners, LLC, during which Tippee No. 1 placed an order to sell
25, 000 shares of InClone conmon stock.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371).

COUNT TWO
(Conspiracy to Conmit Fraud in Connection
with the Purchase and Sal e of Securities:
Samuel Waksal and Ti ppee No. 2)

The Grand Jury further charges:

12



20. The al | egati ons of paragraphs 1 through 14 and 18
through 19 are repeated and real |l eged as though fully set forth
her ei n.

The Unl awf ul Tradi ng

Sal es of InClone Stock By Tippee No. 2

21, In breach of his duties to InClone and its
sharehol ders to abstain fromtrading in I nCl one common stock
while in possession of material non-public information
concerning InmClone’s Erbitux BLAto InClone and its
sharehol ders, to protect the confidentiality of such materi al
non- public informati on, and to abstain from"ti pping" such
mat erial non-public information to others, and for his own
personal benefit and the benefit of other persons with whom he
had a cl ose personal relationship, SAMJEL WAKSAL di scl osed
mat erial non-public information, in substance and in part, to,
anong ot hers known and unknown, a co-conspirator not naned as a
def endant herein (“Ti ppee No. 2") and reconmended that Ti ppee
No. 2 sell InClone stock. Tippee No. 2, in turn, sold InCl one
common stock while knowi ng that the information was
confidential, material and non-public and had been disclosed to
Ti ppee No. 2 in breach of SAMJEL WAKSAL' s duties to InCl one and

| nCl one’ s shar ehol ders.
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22, In or about the early norning of Decenber 27,
2001, SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, contacted Ti ppee No. 2 and
communi cated to Ti ppee No. 2 that Tippee No. 2 should sel

| nCl one conmon stock. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, at
approximately 9:01 a.m (EST), Tippee No. 2 placed an order to
sell all of Tippee No. 2's securities holdings, consisting of
approxi mately 39,472 shares of |InCl one comon stock worth
approxi mately $2,472, 837.

23. By selling 39,472 shares of |InCl one stock two
days prior to InClone s public announcenent of the FDA s refusa
to accept for filing the Erbitux BLA, Tippee No. 2 avoided
| osses of approximately $630, 000.

Attenpted Sale of InClone Stock Transferred to Ti ppee No. 2

24, In or about the norning of Decenmber 27, 2001,
SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, directed Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.
(“Merrill Lynch”) to transfer into an account at Merrill Lynch
in the name of Tippee No. 2 all of the InCl one common stock that
SAMJEL WAKSAL held at Merrill Lynch, consisting of approximtely
79, 797 shares then valued at approximately $4.9 million (the
“79,797 Shares”). SAMIJEL WAKSAL's written direction to Merril
Lynch stated that the transfer request was “URGENT - | MVEDI ATE
ACTI ON REQUI RED’ and that it was “inperative” that the transfer

t ake place during the norning of Decenber 27, 2001. Subsequent
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to the transfer of the 79,797 Shares, SAMJEL WAKSAL directed his
accountant to seek to have the 79,797 Shares sold. Merril
Lynch refused to sell the 79,797 Shares absent approval from
InClone’s Ofice of the General Counsel because the shares had
originally been owned by SAMJEL WAKSAL and were subject to
restrictions on trading.

25.  On or about Decenber 28, 2001, after SAMJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, was informed that Merrill Lynch had
refused to sell the 79,797 Shares, WAKSAL directed his
accountant to arrange for the 79,797 Shares to be transferred to
Banc of Anerica Securities LLC. On Decenber 28, 2001, at
approximately 2:12 p.m, SAMJEL WAKSAL’ s account ant i nforned
SAMUEL WAKSAL by emmi|l that “B[anc] of Al merica] consider][s]
[ Ti ppee No. 2] an affiliate of InClone and cannot sell the
shares absent conpany approval.”

The Conspiracy

26. From on or about Decenber 27, 2001, up to and
i ncluding on or about Decenber 28, 2001, in the Southern
District of New York and el sewhere, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
defendant, and Tippee No. 2 unlawfully, wllfully, and know ngly
did conbi ne, conspire, confederate and agree together and with
each other to commt offenses against the United States, to wt,

to commt securities fraud in violation of Title 15, United
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States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of
Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5, and to conmt wire fraud
inviolation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(bj ects of the Conspiracy

Securities Fraud

27. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy
t hat SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and Ti ppee No. 2 unlawfully,
willfully and knowi ngly, directly and indirectly, by use of the
means and instrumentalities of interstate comerce, the mails
and the facilities of national securities exchanges, did use and
enpl oy mani pul ati ve and deceptive devices and contrivances, in
violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section
240. 10b-5, by (a) enploying devices, schenes and artifices to
defraud; (b) making untrue statenents of material facts and
omtting to state material facts necessary in order to make the
statenents nmade, in the |ight of the circunstances under which
t hey were nade, not m sleading;, and (c) engaging in acts,
practices and courses of business which operated and woul d and
did operate as a fraud and deceit upon InClone and its
shar ehol ders, and ot her persons and entities, in connection with
t he purchase and sale of InCl one securities, in violation of
Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and

Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5.

16



Wre Fraud

28. It was further a part and an object of the
conspiracy that SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and Ti ppee No. 2,
havi ng devi sed and intending to devise a schene and artifice to
defraud, and for obtaining noney and property by neans of false
and fraudul ent pretenses, representations and prom ses,
unlawfully, willfully and knowi ngly would and did transmt and
cause to be transmtted by nmeans of wire conmunication in
interstate and foreign commerce, witings, signs, signals,
pi ctures and sounds for the purpose of executing such schene and
artifice, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1343.

Means and Met hods of the Conspiracy

29. Anmong the nmeans and nethods by which SAMJEL

WAKSAL, the defendant, and Tippee No. 2 would and did carry out
t he conspiracy were the foll ow ng

e. SAMUEL WAKSAL, t he def endant,

m sappropriated and stole material non-public information

concerning the status of the Erbitux BLA and the FDA' s pendi ng

actions on that application, in violation of (i) the fiduciary

and other duties of trust and confidence that SAMJEL WAKSAL owed

to InClone and its shareholders; and (ii) InClone’s witten
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policies regarding the use and safekeeping of confidential and
proprietary client information.

f. For his benefit and the benefit of Tippee
No. 2, with whom SAMJEL WAKSAL had a close personal
rel ationship, SAMJEL WAKSAL disclosed to Tippee No. 2 material
non- public information that he had m sappropriated and stolen
from InClone and its shareholders wth the understanding that
Ti ppee No. 2 would sell shares of InClone commobn stock and
t hereby avoid substantial | osses.

g. Ti ppee No. 2 sold shares of |nClone conmon
stock on the basis of information and reconmmendati ons provided
by SAMJEL WAKSAL, thereby avoiding substantial | osses.

Overt Acts

30. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect
the unlawful objects thereof, the following overt acts, anong
others, were commtted in the Southern District of New York and
el sewher e:

a. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, SAMJEL WAKSAL,
t he defendant, who was in New York, New York, spoke by tel ephone
with Ti ppee No. 2, who was in another state.

b. On or about Decenber 27, 2001, Tippee No. 2,
who was in another state, spoke by telephone wth a

representative of Merrill Lynch in New York, New York, during
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which Tippee No. 2 placed an order to sell 39,472 shares of
| MCl one comon st ock.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371).

COUNTS THREE THROUGH NI NE

(Securities Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:
31 The al |l egations of paragraphs 1 through 14, 18
t hrough 19, 21 through 25, and 29 through 30 are repeated and
real l eged as though fully set forth herein.

32. On or about the follow ng dates, in the Southern
District of New York and el sewhere, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowi ngly, directly and
indirectly, by use of the neans and instrunentalities of
interstate commerce, the nmails and the facilities of national
securities exchanges, did use and enpl oy nmani pul ati ve and
decepti ve devices and contrivances, in violation of Title 17,
Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5, by (a) enploying
devi ces, schenes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue
statenents of material facts and omtting to state materi al
facts necessary in order to nmake the statenments made, in the
i ght of the circunstances under which they were nade, not
m sl eadi ng; and (c) engaging in acts, practices and courses of

busi ness whi ch operated and would and did operate as a fraud and
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deceit upon InClone and its sharehol ders, and ot her persons and

entities,

st ock:

in connection with the follow ng sal es of |InCl one

COUNT

DATE

ACT

THREE

Decenber

27,

2001

Sal e of 39,472 shares of |nC one
commobn stock from an account at
Merrill Lynch held in the nane of
Ti ppee No. 2

FOUR

Decenber

27,

2001

Attenpted sale of 79,797 shares of

I mCl one common stock transferred to
an account at Merrill Lynch held in
the name of Tippee No. 2

FI VE

December

27,

2001

Sal e of 50,000 shares of |InC one
common stock froman account at Roth
Capital Partners, LLC, held in the
name of Ti ppee No. 1

SI X

Decenber

27,

2001

Sal e of 50,000 shares of |nCl one
common stock from an account at
McDonal d I nvestnments, Inc. held in
the name of Tippee No. 1

SEVEN

Decenber

27,

2001

Sal e of 10,000 shares of |nCl one
common stock from an account at Banc
of Anerica Securities held in the
name of Ti ppee No. 1

El GHT

Decenber

27,

2001

Sal e of 1,336 shares of |InCl one
common stock from an account at
Prudential Securities |Incorporated
held in the nane of another

i ndi vi dual

NI NE

Decenber

28,

2001

Sal e of 25,000 shares of |InCl one
common stock from an account at Roth
Capital Partners, LLC, held in the
name of Ti ppee No. 1

20




(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff;
Title 17, Code of Federal Regul ations, Section 240.10b-5;
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)
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COUNT TEN
(Conspiracy to CObstruct Justice and Commt Perjury)
The Grand Jury further charges:
33. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, 18
t hrough 19, 21 through 25, and 29 through 30 are repeated and

real l eged as though fully set forth herein.

| nt roducti on

34. Fol |l owi ng the comrencenent of an investigation by
the United States Securities and Exchange Comm ssion (the “SEC")
into the trading in InClone stock described in Counts One
t hrough Ni ne above, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, agreed with
Ti ppee No. 1 and Tippee No. 2 to obstruct the SEC s
i nvestigation by providing false and m sl eadi ng i nformati on and
by maki ng fal se and m sl eading statenents in testinony before
t he SEC.

The SEC | nvestigation

35. I n or about January 2001, the Northeast Regi onal
O fice of the SEC cormenced an investigation to determ ne
whet her SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and others had viol ated
the federal securities laws and regul ations that prohibit
trading while in possession of and using material non-public
information. It was material to the SEC s investigation to

determ ne, anong other things, the reasons for the trading,
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transfers of stock, and attenpted tradi ng of SAMJEL WAKSAL,
Ti ppee No. 1, and Ti ppee No. 2, anong ot hers.
36. On or about January 28, 2002, the SEC i ssued an
Order Directing Private Investigations and Designating Oficers
to Take Testinmony (the “Fornmal Order of Investigation”).
37. During the course of its investigation, the SEC

i ssued the follow ng investigative subpoenas and nmade t he
foll ow ng voluntary request for docunents, anong others:

gg. On or about January 8, 2002, prior to the
SEC s issuance of the Formal Order of Investigation, the SEC
made a voluntary request for production of docunents to |InC one,
requesting, anong other things, the production of correspondence
wi th any broker, dealer or financial institution regarding
trading in InClone securities by any InCl one insider.

hh. On or about January 30, 2002, the SEC issued
a subpoena to SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, directing WAKSAL to
provi de testinony and to produce docunents relating to, anong
other things: (i) any securities trading and bank accounts
WAKSAL controlled; (ii) any financial arrangenent, agreenent or
transacti on between WAKSAL and any ot her person with respect to
the purchase or sale of securities or the proceeds thereof; and
(itii) any wire transfers WAKSAL aut horized in connection with

any such arrangenent, agreenent or transaction.
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ii. On or about January 30, 2002, the SEC i ssued
a subpoena to Tippee No. 1, directing Tippee No. 1 to provide
testi nony and produce docunents relating to Tippee No. 1's
trading in InClone securities, anong ot her things.

jj- On or about January 30, 2002, the SEC i ssued
a subpoena to Tippee No. 2, directing Tippee No. 2 to provide
testi nony and produce docunents relating to Ti ppee No. 2's
trading in InClone securities, anong other things.

kk. On or about March 26, 2002, and April 9,
2002, the SEC i ssued subpoenas to InCl one for docunents rel ating
to, anong other things, any transaction in InClone securities by
any I nCl one officer or director and any brokerage accounts
mai nt ai ned by any InClone officer or director.

The Schene to (bhstruct Justice

38. Follow ng the SEC s issuance of subpoenas
directing SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee
No. 2 to give testinony, WAKSAL, Tippee No. 1, and Ti ppee No. 2
agreed to nmake fal se and m sl eading statenents to the SEC about
their conmuni cations regarding their trading in I nmC one stock.

39. On April 1, 2002 and April 18, 2002, SAMUJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, appeared before the SEC in New York, New

York, pursuant to subpoena, and gave testinony under oath.
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Anmong other matters, SAMJUEL WAKSAL falsely testified, in
substance and in part, that:

gg. SAMJEL WAKSAL did not speak with Ti ppee No.
1 during the night of Decenber 26, 2001; did not instruct Tippee
No. 1 to sell InClone stock on or about Decenber 27, 2001 or on
or about Decenber 28, 2001; and did not suggest to Tippee No. 1
that Ti ppee No. 1 should sell InClone stock on or about Decenber
27, 2001 or on or about Decenber 28, 2001.

hh. SAMJEL WAKSAL did not speak with Ti ppee No.
2 fromthe time he heard the report of the FDA s anti ci pated
negati ve deci sion regarding the Erbitux BLA until the night of
Decenber 27, 2001; did not instruct Tippee No. 2 to sell InCl one
stock on or about Decenber 27, 2001; and did not suggest to
Ti ppee No. 2 that Ti ppee No. 2 should sell InClone stock on or
about Decenber 27, 2001.

ii. SAMJEL WAKSAL had planned to transfer the
79,797 Shares to Tippee No. 2 a nunber of weeks before the
transfer on or about Decenber 27, 2001; did not believe there
was any inperative associated with the transfer of the 79,797
Shares to Tippee No. 2; and did not ask to have the 79, 797
Shares sol d.

40. On March 18, 2002, Tippee No. 1 appeared before

the SECin Mam, Florida, pursuant to subpoena, and gave
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testi nony under oath. Anong other matters, Tippee No. 1 falsely
testified, in substance and in part, that Ti ppee No. 1 (a)
“never had a conversation about stock with [ SAMJEL WAKSAL]”; (b)
“never spoke to [ SAMUEL WAKSAL] about InClone”; (c) renenbered
that Tippee No. 1 did not talk to SAMJEL WAKSAL on the ni ght of
Decenber 26, 2001; and (d) did not return any of the calls
SAMUEL WAKSAL pl aced to Tippee No. 1 during the night of
Decenber 26, 2001

41. On March 5, 2002, Tippee No. 2 appeared before
the SEC in New York, New York, pursuant to subpoena, and gave
testi nony under oath. Anong other matters, Tippee No. 2 falsely
testified, in substance and in part, that (a) prior to placing
t he Decenber 27, 2001 order to sell InClone shares, Tippee No. 2
did not speak to anyone other than the person with whom Ti ppee
No. 2 was vacationing; (b) Tippee No. 2 did not discuss
investnents in any way with SAMJUEL WAKSAL during Ti ppee No. 2's
vacation to lIdaho; and (c) Tippee No. 2 placed the Decenber 27,
2001 order to sell because Tippee No. 2 needed $1.7 mllion to
cl ose on a two-bedroom apartnment in Manhattan into which Tippee
No. 2 planned to nove on January 7, 2002.

42. Contrary to the testinony of SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
def endant, and Ti ppee No. 1, tel ephone records show the

foll owing telephone calls between tel ephones associated with
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SAMJEL WAKSAL and Tippee No. 1 in the |late evening of Decenber

26, 2001, just prior to the tinme that Tippee No. 1 placed orders
to sell InClone stock during the early norning of Decenber 27,
2001:
Tine of Call | From To Length of Cal
9:52 p.m Sanmuel Waksal's | Ti ppee No. 1's 2 seconds
(EST) cell phone home phone
9:56 p.m Samuel Waksal's | Ti ppee No. 1's 7 seconds
(EST) cell phone home phone
Tine of Call | From To Length of Call
10: 26 p. m Sanmuel Waksal’'s | Ti ppee No. 1's 22 seconds
(EST) cell phone home phone
10: 41 p. m Ti ppee No. 1's | Sanuel Waksal's 1 mnute, 3
(EST) honme phone honme phone seconds
11:11 p. m Ti ppee No. 1's | Sanuel Waksal’s 42 seconds
(EST) home phone home phone

38. Contrary to the testinony of SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
def endant, and Ti ppee No. 2, tel ephone records show that early

in the norning of Decenber 27, 2001,

sal e of all

of Tippee No. 2's InClone stock,

j ust

prior to Tippee No.2's

numer ous t el ephone

calls were placed between tel ephones associ ated wi th SAMJEL

WAKSAL and Ti ppee No. 2,

as foll ows:

Ti me of Cal

From

To
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6:27 a.m Sanmuel Waksal’'s | Ti ppee No. 2's Unknown
(MST) wor k phone cell phone

6:30 a.m Ti ppee No. 2's | Sanuel Wksal'’s 2 mnutes
(MST) cell phone wor k phone

6:58 a. m Ti ppee No. 2's | Sanuel Waksal’s 2.4 mnutes
(MST) hot el phone wor k phone

7:01 a.m Ti ppee No. 2's | Merrill Lynch 1.4 mnutes
(MST) hot el phone

7:46 a.m Ti ppee No. 2's | Sanmuel Waksal'’s 1.3 mnutes
(MST) hot el phone wor k phone

7:49 a.m Ti ppee No. 2's | Merrill Lynch 0.7 mnutes
(MST) hot el phone
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The Conspiracy

38. Fromin or about January 2002, until in or about
March 2002, in the Southern District of New York and el sewhere,
SAMUJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee No. 2,
unlawful ly, willfully, and know ngly did conbine, conspire,
confederate and agree together and with each other to commt
of fenses against the United States, to wit, to obstruct justice,
in violation of Section 1505 of Title 18, United States Code,
and to commt perjury, in violation of Section 1621 of Title 18,
United States Code.

bj ects of the Conspiracy

Obstructi on of Justice

38. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy
t hat SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee No. 2
unlawful Iy, willfully and know ngly, would and did corruptly
i nfl uence, obstruct and inpede, and endeavor to influence,
obstruct and i npede the due and proper adm nistration of the | aw
under which a pendi ng proceedi ng was bei ng had before a
departnent and agency of the United States, namely, the SEC, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1505.

Perjury
39. It was further a part and an object of the

conspiracy that SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, Tippee No. 1 and
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Ti ppee No. 2, having taken an oath before a conpetent tribunal,
of ficer and person, in a case in which the law of the United
States authorizes an oath to be adm nistered, nanely, in

testi nony before the SEC, would and did testify, declare, depose
and certify truly, and that any witten testinony, declaration,
deposition and certificate by them subscri bed, would be true,
unlawful Iy, willfully, know ngly, and contrary to such oat h,
woul d and did state and subscribe naterial matters which they
did not believe to be true, in violation of Title 18, United

St ates Code, Section 1621.

Means and Met hods of the Conspiracy

40. Anong the neans and net hods by whi ch SAMJEL

WAKSAL, the defendant, Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee No. 2 would and
did carry out the conspiracy were the follow ng:

gg. SAMJEL WAKSAL and Ti ppee No. 1 agreed to and
did provide false and m sleading testinony to the SEC about
their communi cations the night before Tippee No. 1's sal es of
| nCl one st ock.

hh. SAMUEL WAKSAL and Ti ppee No. 2 agreed to and
did provide false and m sl eading testinony to the SEC about
their communi cations during the hours prior to Tippee No. 2's
sal es of | nClone stock.

Overt Acts
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48. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect
the unlawful objects thereof, the following overt acts, anong
others, were commtted in the Southern District of New York and
el sewher e:

vv. On or about March 5, 2002, in New York, New
York, Tippee No. 2 gave false and msleading testinony about
communi cations with SAMJEL WAKSAL regarding Tippee No. 2's
trading in I nClone stock.

w. On or about Mirch 18, 2002, in Mam,
Florida, Tippee No. 1 gave false and m sl eading testinony about
comuni cations with SAMJEL WAKSAL regarding Tippee No. 1's
trading in I nClone stock.

XX. On or about April 1, 2002, in New York, New
York, SAMJEL WAKSAL gave false and msleading testinony about
his comunications with Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee No. 2 regarding
Ti ppee No. 1's and Tippee No. 2's trading in InClone stock.

yy. On or about April 18, 2002, in New York, New
York, SAMJEL WAKSAL gave false and msleading testinony about
his conmmuni cations with Tippee No. 1 and Ti ppee No. 2 regarding
Ti ppee No. 1's and Tippee No. 2's trading in |InClone stock.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371).
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COUNT ELEVEN

(Perjury)

The Grand Jury further charges:

49. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, 18
t hrough 19, 21 through 25, 29 through 30, 34 through 43, and 47
t hrough 48 are repeated and reall eged as though fully set forth
her ei n.

50. On April 1, 2002, and on April 18, 2002, in the
Southern District of New York, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant,
havi ng taken an oath before a conpetent tribunal, officer and
person, in a case in which the law of the United States
aut horizes an oath to be adm nistered, nanely, in testinony
before an officer of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commi ssion, that he would testify, declare, depose and certify
truly, and that any witten testinony, declaration, deposition
and certificate by himsubscribed, would be true, unlawfully,
willfully, knowi ngly, and contrary to such oath, stated and
subscri bed material matters which he did not believe to be true,
nanmely, the testinony on or about April 1, 2002, and April 18,
2002, the underlined portions of which he believed to be
materially fal se:

Speci ficati on One
(Page 96, Line 19 - Page 97, Line 2)
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>Q

=0

> Q

> Q

Q Wy did you want to gift shares to [Ti ppee No.
2] ?

A | had told [Tippee No. 2] that | was going to do
that for [Tippee No. 2]. | had told [Ti ppee No. 2] a
couple of weeks before that — [Tippee No. 2] lived off
of [Tippee No. 2's] InClone. [Tippee No. 2] had no

ot her real neans of support, and | had told [Ti ppee
No. 2] when we had tal ked earlier in Decenber about

[ Ti ppee No. 2's] financial situation, that | was goi ng
to give [Tippee No. 2] nore InCl one stock that [Ti ppee
No. 2] could use to |ive on.

Speci ficati on Two
(Page 184, Line 14 - Page 184, Line 24)

Q The next phone call, 9:22 p.m, who were you
calling there?

A [ Ti ppee No. 1 and anot her person].

What did you tal k about?

| didnt. | left a nessage, | couldn’'t get a hold of
t hem

Q What did you say in your nmessage?

A: “Call me, Sam” | |eave [Tippee No. 1] quick
nmessages.

Did you hear back from[Ti ppee No. 1]7?
Not that night.

Specification Three
(Page 311, Line 10 - Page 313, Line 8)

Q Dr. Waksal, |’ m handi ng you what’s just been
mar ked as Exhibit 114. Have you ever seen this
docunent before?

A Yes.

VWhat is it?

It’s a request to transfer nmy Merrill account and
shares of InClone to [Ti ppee No. 2].

Q And the second paragraph says, “It’s inperative
this transfer take place tonorrow norning, Decenber
27th, first thing.” Do you see that?

A Yes.

Wiy was it so inperative that the transfer take place?
| believe this was just the way this was witten, just
to make sure that they would do it very quickly. [MW
accountant] was going away and it was naking sure that
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it was done imediately. | don’t believe that there
was any i nperative associated with it.

Speci ficati on Four
(Page 485, Line 19 - Page 485, Line 25)

Q Did you ever instruct [Ti ppee No. 1 or Ti ppee No.
2] to sell their shares of |InCl one?
(a) A No.
Q Did you ever suggest to any of themthat they sell
t heir shares of |InClone?
(b) A No.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621).

COUNT TWELVE

(Qbstruction of Justice)
The Grand Jury further charges:
51. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, 18
t hrough 19, 21 through 25, 29 through 30, 34 through 43, 47
t hrough 48, and 50 are repeated and reall eged as though fully

set forth herein.

The Cbstructive Conduct

52. After learning of the SEC s investigation, that
t he SEC had requested the production of docunents from | nCl one
in connection with its investigation, and that |InC one’s
attorneys had begun to gat her docunents in response to the SEC s
request for production of docunments, in or about |ate January

2002, SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, directed another individual
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to destroy certain docunents and to delete certain conputer
files maintained at InClone’s offices in New York, New York.
More specifically, WAKSAL directed another person to delete
conputer files containing phone nessages he received, and to
destroy certain records pertaining to offshore accounts he

mai ntai ned in the nane of Protec Advisory Goup Ltd. at D scount
Bank and Trust Conpany in CGeneva, Switzerland, and Ansterdam

t he Net herl ands.

53.  As SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, well knew at the
time that he directed the destruction of records relating to his
phone nessages, such records were material to the SEC s
i nvestigation because such records woul d have reveal ed the
identities of persons to whom SAMJEL WAKSAL nmay have
comuni cated material non-public information concerning |InC one
and described the tinmes and dates of such comuni cati ons.

54. As SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, well knew at the
time that he directed the destruction of docunents pertaining to
his of fshore accounts, such documents were material to the SEC s
i nvestigation because such docunents nay have reveal ed that
WAKSAL unlawfully traded in InClone securities in offshore
accounts and woul d have reveal ed the nature and | ocati on of

assets that the SEC could seek to attach or restrain in a ciVvi
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action for disgorgenent or penalties for insider trading
vi ol ati ons.

55.  Pursuant to the direction of SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
defendant, in or about |ate January 2002, the individual deleted
certain conputer files containing WAKSAL’ s phone nessages.
Pursuant to SAMJEL WAKSAL' s direction, the individual also
del eted conputer files and di scarded docunents evi denci ng SAMJEL
WAKSAL’ s instructions, anong other things (a) on Novenber 6,
2000, to transfer 120,000 shares of InClone stock to an account
in the nanme of Protec Advisory Goup Ltd. at Di scount Bank and
Trust Conpany in Ansterdam (b) on January 10, 2001, to transfer
3,480 shares of InClone stock to an account at Di scount Bank and
Trust Conpany in Geneva; and (c) on Septenber 25, 2001, to wire
transfer $2 nmllion to an account in the nane of Protec Advisory
G oup Ltd. at Discount Bank and Trust Conpany in Ansterdam

Statutory All egation

56. In or about | ate January 2002, in the Southern
District of New York and el sewhere, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
def endant, unlawfully, willfully and know ngly, would and did
corruptly influence, obstruct and i npede, and endeavor to
i nfl uence, obstruct and i npede the due and proper adm nistration
of the | aw under which a pendi ng proceedi ng was bei ng had before

a departnent and agency of the United States, nanely, the SEC,
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by directing and causi ng anot her person to destroy docunents
that were material to a pending SEC i nvestigati on.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1505 and 2).

COUNT THI RTEEN

(Bank Fraud)
The Grand Jury further charges:
57. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 3 are

repeated and reall eged as though fully set forth herein.

| nt roducti on

58. At all relevant tines, NationsBank, N A was a
bank headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina. During the
rel evant tinme period, NationsBank, N A nmerged with the Bank of
Anerica, N A, and was thereafter known as the Bank of Anerica,
N. A (collectively “Bank of Anerica”). At all relevant tines,

t he deposits of NationsBank and Bank of Anerica were insured by
t he Federal Deposit I|nsurance Corporation.

59. Fromin or about April 1999 through on or about
January 18, 2002, SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, defrauded the
Bank of Anerica, N A, by pledging certain securities issued to
hi m by InClone, purportedly worth mllions of dollars, to secure
approximately $44 mllion in |l oans from Bank of Anerica. In

truth and in fact, as WAKSAL wel | knew, after July 20, 2000,
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WAKSAL no | onger owned those securities he had pledged to Bank
of America. Moreover, WAKSAL fraudulently failed to disclose to
Bank of America that he had previously pledged those sane
securities to another creditor. |In furtherance of his schene to
defraud, in Novenber 2000, WAKSAL provided Bank of Anerica with
a fabricated docunent containing a forged signature of InClone’s
General Counsel, which docunment falsely represented that WAKSAL

still owned those pl edged securities.
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The Warr ant

60. In or about Decenber 1995, InClone granted to
SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, a Stock Purchase Warrant that gave
SAMUEL WAKSAL the right to purchase 350,000 shares of |InCl one
stock at a price of $5.50 per share, during the period from June
12, 1996 through Decenber 11, 2005 (the “Warrant”). At al
rel evant tinmes, the Warrant was a val uabl e asset because it
permtted WAKSAL to purchase InClone stock at a price that was
substantially bel ow the market price for InClone’ s stock. For
exanpl e, on or about April 21, 1999, the market price for
| nCl one stock was $17 per share. As a result, the Warrant,
whi ch al | oned WAKSAL to purchase 350,000 at $5.50 per share, was
t hen worth approxi mately $4, 025, 000.

SAMUJEL WAKSAL’ s Pl edge of the Warrant to Secure Miltiple Debts

61. In or about April 1999, SAMUEL WAKSAL, the
def endant, entered into certain credit arrangenents w th Bank of
Anerica (“the Bank of America Credit Facility”). Under the
ternms of the Bank of Anerica Credit Facility, as nodified from
time to tine, Bank of Anmerica extended | oans to WAKSAL. As
security for those | oans, WAKSAL fraudul ently pl edged certain
assets as collateral, including the Warrant. On or about Apri
21, 1999, WAKSAL assigned all his right, title, and interest in

the Warrant to Bank of Anerica.
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62. On or about April 21, 1999, the sane date that
SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, pledged the Warrant to secure the
Bank of Anerica Credit Facility, WAKSAL al so fraudul ently

pl edged the Warrant to Refco Capital Markets, Ltd. (“Refco”), to
secure a short-termcredit |line extended by Refco to WAKSAL
(“the Refco Credit Line”). WAKSAL' s cont enporaneous pl edge of
the Warrant to both Refco and Bank of America violated nunerous
representations and warranti es nade by WAKSAL both to Refco and
Bank of America in connection with the credit extended to WAKSAL
by those | enders.

63. At no tine did SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant,

di scl ose to Bank of Anerica that he had pl edged the Warrant to
Refco. The failure to disclose this pledge violated the terns
of the Bank of America Credit Facility. Simlarly, at no tine
di d WAKSAL di scl ose to Refco that he had pledged the Warrant to
Bank of Anerica in violation of the terns of the Refco Credit

Li ne.

64. Fromtime to tinme during the period fromin or
about April 1999 through in or about July 2000, Bank of Anmerica
extended | oans to SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, under the Bank
of America Credit Facility. As of in or about July 2000, WAKSAL
owed approximately $21.8 mllion under the Bank of America

Credit Facility.
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65. Fromtine to time during the period fromin or
about April 1999 through in or about July 2000, Refco extended
| oans to SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant, under the Refco Credit
Line. As of in or about July 2000, WAKSAL owed approxi mately $5
mllion under the Refco Credit Line.

SAMUEL WAKSAL' s Exerci se of the Warrant

66. Not wi t hst andi ng his pl edges of the Warrant to
both Refco and Bank of Anerica, fromin or about May 2000
through in or about July 20, 2000, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant,
exerci sed the Warrant and purchased all the InClone stock to
whi ch he was entitled under the Warrant. As WAKSAL wel | knew,
after July 20, 2000, the Warrant was fully exercised and had no
remai ning value. At no tine did WAKSAL di scl ose to Refco or
Bank of Anerica that WAKSAL had exercised the Warrant in
violation of his pledge of the Warrant as security for the Bank
of Anerica Credit Facility and the Refco Credit Line.

67. In or about August 2000, as a condition of
continuing to extend credit under the Bank of Anerica Credit
Facility, and as a condition of extending additional credit to
SAMUEL WAKSAL, the defendant, and to entities he controlled,
representatives of the Bank of America requested that WAKSAL
provi de docunentary evidence that the Warrant remai ned valid and

outstanding. |In response to this request, WAKSAL forged the
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signature of the General Counsel of InClone on an “lssuer’s
Letter” dated Novenber 10, 2000, that WAKSAL caused to be
transmtted to Bank of America. The forged “lssuer’s Letter”
falsely and fraudulently represented, anong other things, that
WAKSAL continued to own the Warrant, when, in truth and in fact,
as WAKSAL wel | knew, the Warrant had been fully exercised and
was, at that tinme, worthless.

68. The fraudul ent representati ons made by SAMJEL
WAKSAL, the defendant, regarding his ownership of the Warrant
purportedly pledged as collateral for his indebtedness were
material to Bank of Anerica. As of July 1, 2001, SAMJEL WAKSAL
and entities he controlled owed over approximately $44 mllion
to Bank of Anerica. This entire indebtedness was secured in
| arge part by the Warrant. As of July 31, 2001, Bank of Anmerica
val ued the Warrant at approxinmately $29.8 mllion, which
accounted for approximately 41% of the total value of the
collateral pledged to secure the indebtedness to Bank of
Arerica. As of that date, without its know edge, Bank of
Anerica was under-collateralized in that the anmount of the debt
of WAKSAL and entities he controlled was greater than the true
val ue of the assets pledged to secure the indebtedness. Bank of
Anerica was therefore at a risk of loss that it did not

knowi ngly accept.
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69. Notwi t hstandi ng the fact that SAMJEL WAKSAL, the
defendant, had fully exercised the Warrant and nonet hel ess
pl edged it to secure his debt to Bank of Anerica, WAKSAL al so
continued to pledge the Warrant to Refco as security for his
growi ng debt. On or about October 6, 2000 -- approximately two
and one-half nonths after he fully exercised the Warrant --
WAKSAL signed a Terns and Conditions docunent extending his $5
mllion credit line from Refco, still pledging the Warrant to
Refco as security. In or about January 2001, WAKSAL furt her
agreed that the assets securing the credit line to Refco, would
al so secure WAKSAL’'s nargin debt of approximately $8.5 mllion
to Refco Securities, LLC, a broker-dealer in New York, New York.

Statutory Allegation

70. Fromin or about April 1999 up to and i ncluding
on or about January 18, 2002, SAMJEL WAKSAL, the defendant,
unlawfully, willfully and know ngly executed and attenpted to
execute a schene and artifice to defraud a financi al
institution, and to obtain the noneys, funds, credits, assets,
securities, and other property owned by, and under the custody
and control of, a financial institution, nanely Bank of Anerica,
N. A., whose deposits were insured by the Federal Deposit

| nsurance Corporation, by means of false and fraudul ent
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pretenses, representations and prom ses, nanely, the schene
descri bed above.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1344).

/'S /'S

FOREPERSON JAMVES B. COWEY
United States Attorney
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